STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Certiorari to Greenville County

R. Keith Kelly, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

**ORIGINAL
RECEIVED**
MAY 22 2018
SC Court of Appeals

RESPONDENT,

V.

ROBERT BERNARD CAMPBELL,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2016-002457

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JOANNA KATHERINE DELANY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the judge err by denying Appellant's motion for resentencing on juvenile non-homicide offenses where Appellant received a sentence of life imprisonment with the possibility of parole, which is the functional equivalent of life without the possibility of parole because the sentence does not afford a meaningful opportunity for release where 1) Appellant is mentally ill and unrepresented by counsel at parole hearings, and 2) the parole board is not required to consider the special characteristics of a juvenile offender?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted for armed robbery, attempted armed robbery, housebreaking, criminal sexual conduct 1st degree, and burglary 1st degree, offenses alleged to have occurred from March through May of 1985 when Appellant was seventeen years old. R. 51 – 64. On February 28, 1986, Appellant pleaded guilty. R. 48; R. 51 – 64. He received, respectively, sentences of twenty-five years; ten years; thirty years; and life imprisonment. R. 48 – 50.

On December 7, 2015, Appellant timely filed a motion for resentencing pursuant to *Aiken v. Byars*, 410 S.C. 534, 765 S.E.2d 572 (2014). R. 37 – 45. Parker Baxley represented Appellant in his request for resentencing. R. 4, ll. 21-23. The Honorable R. Keith Kelly presided over a hearing on the motion September 15, 2016. R. 1, ll. 15-16. Elizabeth Gary appeared on behalf of the state. R. 1, ll. 18-22.

By an order filed December 7, 2016, Judge Kelly ruled that Appellant was not entitled to resentencing. R. 48 – 50.

ARGUMENT

The judge erred by denying Appellant's motion for resentencing on juvenile non-homicide offenses where he received a sentence of life imprisonment with the possibility of parole, which is the functional equivalent of life without the possibility of parole because the sentence does not afford a meaningful opportunity for release where 1) Appellant is mentally ill and unrepresented by counsel at parole hearings, and 2) the parole board is not required to consider the special characteristics of a juvenile offender.

Relevant facts

During the hearing before Judge Kelly, the state argued that Appellant was not entitled to resentencing under *Miller v. Alabama*, 567 U.S. 460 (2012), or *Aiken v. Byars*, 410 S.C. 534, 765 S.E.2d 572 (2014), as their holdings only applied to a class of offenders made up of juvenile homicide offenders facing life without the possibility of parole. R. 17, ll. 15-21. The state argued that because Appellant was not convicted of homicide, "this is clearly not a *Miller v. Alabama* motion." R. 17, ll. 22-25.

The state agreed that a juvenile non-homicide offender under *Graham v. Florida*, 560 U.S. 48 (2010), is entitled to a specialized sentencing procedure. R. 18, ll. 14-21. Gary admitted that a juvenile offender facing even a *de facto* life sentence is entitled to a specialized sentencing hearing, a "particular sentencing hearing is so important with juvenile offenders, especially those who are facing life without parole or even a *de facto* life sentence..." R. 18, ll. 22-25. However, the state argued that Appellant was not entitled to a particularized sentencing hearing because he was eligible for parole. R. 19, ll. 11-18. Gary said of Appellant: "[h]e's had 18 parole hearings." R. 19, ll. 19-20. The state argued that there was no *Graham* violation as Appellant was parole eligible, a remedy recognized in *Montgomery v. Louisiana*, 136 S.Ct. 718 (2016). R. 20, l. 24 –

21, l. 5. Gary argued that it was the “opportunity to obtain release after that initial sentencing that remedies our Eighth Amendment violations in these cases.” R. 22, ll. 5-8.

Defense counsel posited that Appellant’s sentence was within the purview of *Miller*, *Aiken*, and *Graham* although it was a life sentence as opposed to life without parole sentence, because the sentence was a *de facto* life without parole sentence. R. 8, ll. 22-24. Baxley argued that Appellant’s sentence was a *de facto* life without parole sentence under the reasoning of, among others, *State v. Ragland*, R. 13, ll. 24-25. In *State v. Ragland*, the Iowa Supreme Court found that the chance of parole eligibility during the offender’s lifetime did not remove the case from the purview of *Miller*, as Ragland’s sentence was the functional equivalent of life without parole. *State v. Ragland*, 836 N.W.2d 107, 122 (Iowa 2013).

Appellant moved for resentencing alleging that he was not allowed the opportunity to present mitigating evidence of his youth and immaturity at his original sentencing hearing in 1986. R. 37 – 45. Defense counsel argued that a juvenile non-homicide offender may not be sentenced to a *de facto* life without parole sentence without the opportunity to present mitigating evidence of his youth and its attendant characteristics, and that Appellant was entitled to resentencing. R. 8, ll. 8-24. Baxley argued that Appellant’s *de facto* life without parole sentence “is a *Miller* violation, is an Eighth Amendment violation, was contemplated by *Graham* and deserves reconsideration and an opportunity to present the five factors prescribed by the *Miller* Court...” R. 17, ll. 3-7. *Miller* requires a sentencing judge to consider a juvenile’s: (1) age at the time of the offense and hallmark features of youth including immaturity, impetuosity, and failure to appreciate the risks and consequences; (2) his family and home environment at the time of the offense; (3) the circumstances of the offense, including the extent of his participation and how familial and peer pressures may have affected him; (4) the incompetencies associated with youth

such as his inability to deal with police or prosecutors, or his incapacity to assist his own attorneys; and (5) the possibility of rehabilitation. *Miller*, 567 U.S. at 477.

Defense counsel also argued that Appellant was entitled to resentencing as his special characteristics as a juvenile offender were not taken into account by the parole board; Baxley said of Appellant's parole hearings that "[h]is youth is not taken into account at those hearings." R. 9, ll. 4-5. Baxley stated "[c]ertainly none of them are taking into consideration his age at the time of the offense." R. 9, ll. 14-16. Baxley said the parole board was not considering "[h]is impulsiveness that comes along with being a teenager at the time." R. 9, ll. 18-19. Baxley stated that a "meaningful opportunity for release" "has certainly never been afforded Mr. Campbell, both at his – at the time of the plea and the subsequent 18 times he's been in front of the parole board." R. 10, ll. 11-18. Baxley said that as to the *Miller* factors being considered at Appellant's parole hearings, "I think it's clear from the factors they check off on their sheet that Mr. Campbell is not being given an opportunity to present this information." R. 24, l. 14 – 25; l. 1. Gary did not contest the parole board's lack of consideration of the *Miller* factors.

Defense counsel additionally argued Appellant had not received a meaningful opportunity to obtain release via parole as he had been and continued to be mentally ill and unrepresented by counsel during his parole hearings. R. 25, ll. 1-12. Baxley said that Appellant has been "in and out of the mental health unit during his 30-year stay." R. 6, ll. 23-24. Baxley noted the difficulty of Appellant "who suffers from mental illnesses to argue on his own behalf as to why he should be released" when appearing in front of the parole board. R. 13, ll. 6-8. "He is mentally ill," Baxley stated. R. 13, ll. 15-16. Baxley reported that part of Appellant's difficulty in obtaining a meaningful hearing in front of the parole board is due to the fact that "he's mentally ill." R. 25, l. 5. Baxley also said Appellant "was mentally ill as a 17 year old and

as a child.” R. 6 ll. 15-16. Baxley noted that Appellant was transported to his guilty plea from the mental hospital on “Bull Street,” although despite her efforts, she was unable to obtain his thirty year old records from the Department of Mental Health. R. 6, ll. 16-22. Appellant confirmed: “I stayed at Bull Street for like five months before I went to court.” R. 32, ll. 13-14.

Appellant is without benefit of counsel at his parole hearings; Baxley stated that Appellant “has certainly not had an attorney with him at the parole board.” R. 29, ll. 24-25. Baxley noted that Appellant is only “given two or three minutes to stand up in front of the parole board by himself without counsel and explain to them why he needs to be released.” R. 25, ll. 9-12. After Appellant addressed the court, Baxley argued that Appellant’s difficulty in articulating his position to Judge Kelly was indicative of his inability to communicate relevant information to the parole board. Baxley stated: “I think it’s evident from his presentation here this morning” that he is unable “to effectively communicate to the parole board.” R. 33, ll. 4-7. Defense counsel argued that Appellant was unable to obtain a meaningful opportunity for release without benefit of legal counsel. Baxley said: “they’re asking for someone who’s been in prison for 30 years without benefit of education, certainly without benefit of legal education, who suffers from mental illnesses to argue on his own behalf as to why he should be released.” R. 13, ll. 4-8.

The state never spoke to Appellant’s mental illness or lack of counsel. About Appellant’s opportunity to obtain release via parole, Gary stated that “I am not able to tell the Court what he has been able to present at those hearings.” R. 19, ll. 20-22. Gary only stated that neither she nor Baxley were “fully aware of what happens at those hearings.” R. 19, l. 25 – 20, l. 1. However, the parties were able to discover the reasons for Appellant’s denial of parole. Baxley stated that “Ms. Gary was able to, to ascertain exactly what the specific reasons he was denied parole, and those are the nature and seriousness of the crimes that, that were committed,

indications of violence, use of a deadly weapon, prior record indicating lack of compliance with supervision and his internal SCDC record.” R. 9, ll. 6-12.

By an order filed November 28, 2016, Judge Kelly denied Appellant’s request for resentencing. R. 48 – 50. The judge denied Appellant’s motion for resentencing under *Miller* and *Aiken*, finding that Appellant “was not charged with, nor did he plead guilty to, murder. As such, he is not a member of the class of offenders entitled to resentencing under *Miller* or *Aiken*.”

R. 48 – 50. Judge Kelly denied Appellant’s motion for resentencing pursuant to *Graham*, by finding that Appellant’s parole eligibility was a satisfactory remedy under *Montgomery v. Louisiana*. R. 48 – 50.

Discussion

Introduction

The principle that because juveniles have lessened culpability they are less deserving of the most severe punishments has directed a series of United States Supreme Court decisions involving the sentencing of juvenile offenders. In *Roper v. Simmons*, 543 U.S. 551, 573 (2005), the Court held that a juvenile may not be sentenced to death, noting the difficulty differentiating “between the juvenile offender whose crime reflects unfortunate yet transient immaturity, and the rare juvenile offender whose crime reflects irreparable corruption.” In *Graham v. Florida*, 560 U.S. 48 (2010), the Court held that a juvenile non-homicide offender may not be sentenced to life in prison without the possibility of parole, and must be given a meaningful opportunity to obtain release. In *Miller v. Alabama*, 567 U.S. 460 (2012), the Court held that a juvenile homicide offender may not be sentenced to life in prison without parole absent consideration of the juvenile’s special circumstances in light of the principles and purposes of juvenile sentencing. However, *Miller* emphasizes that the principles of *Roper* and *Graham* are not

“crime-specific.” *Id.* at 473. In *Montgomery v. Louisiana*, 136 S.Ct. 718, 736 (2016), the Court gave *Miller* retroactive effect, and noted that a state “may remedy a *Miller* violation by permitting juvenile homicide offenders to be considered for parole, rather than by resentencing them.”

In *Aiken v. Byars*, 410 S.C. 534, 765 S.E.2d 572 (2014), the South Carolina Supreme Court addressed the effect of *Miller* on inmates sentenced to life without parole as juveniles. Our Court stated that “*Miller* does more than ban mandatory life sentencing schemes for juveniles; it establishes an affirmative requirement that courts **fully explore the impact of the defendant's juvenility on the sentence rendered.**” *Id.* at 543, 765 S.E.2d at 577 (emphasis added). In discussing the scope of *Miller*'s application, the Court stated that “[i]mportant to our determination of the breadth of the *Miller* decision is this statement by the majority: ‘*Graham*’s reasoning implicates any life-without-parole sentence imposed on a juvenile, even as its categorical bar relates only to nonhomicide offenses.’” *Id.* at 542, 765 S.E.2d at 576 (2014). “[Y]outh has constitutional significance,” and “**must be afforded adequate weight in sentencing.**” *Id.* at 543, 765 S.E.2d at 576 (emphasis added).

When a juvenile offender is facing the possibility of a life without parole sentence, the sentencing authority must consider factors including: “(1) the chronological age of the offender and the hallmark features of youth, including ‘immaturity, impetuosity, and failure to appreciate the risks and consequence’; (2) the ‘family and home environment’ that surrounded the offender; (3) the circumstances of the homicide offense, including the extent of the offender's participation in the conduct and how familial and peer pressures may have affected him; (4) the ‘incompetencies associated with youth—for example, [the offender’s] inability to deal with police officers or prosecutors (including on a plea agreement) or [the offender’s] incapacity to

assist his own attorneys'; and (5) the 'possibility of rehabilitation.'" *Id.* at 544, 765 S.E.2d at 577 (quoting *Miller*).

Neither the judge at sentencing nor the board at parole hearings considered the factors prescribed in *Aiken*. To determine whether Appellant is entitled to protection under the *Miller*, *Graham*, and *Aiken* line of cases, it is informative to examine whether Appellant has received the functional equivalent of a life without parole sentence and whether he has a meaningful opportunity to obtain release.

Functional equivalent of LWOP or meaningful opportunity to obtain release

A state must give juvenile non-homicide offenders "some meaningful opportunity to obtain release based on demonstrated maturity and rehabilitation." *Graham*, 560 U.S. at 75. "A State need not guarantee the offender eventual release, but if it imposes a sentence of life it must provide him or her with some realistic opportunity to obtain release before the end of that term." *Id.* at 82.

The South Carolina Supreme Court has recognized the concept that a sentence may be the functional equivalent of a life sentence in *State v. Kimbrough*, 212 S.C. 348, 46 S.E.2d 273 (1948). More than fifty years ago, our Court considered whether a sentence "will probably extend beyond the natural life of the average prisoner," in determining the propriety of a sentence. *Id.* at 356, 46 S.E.2d at 277. The Court found that although the sentencing judge has broad discretion, when the jury made a recommendation of mercy, the judge should "impose a sentence for a term less than the ordinary expectancy of life" unless the record disclosed some reason for disregarding the jury's recommendation. *Id.* at 355, 46 S.E.2d at 276.

Several states have examined juvenile sentencing schemes to determine whether they give a juvenile some meaningful opportunity at release. These states have found lengthy term of

years or life sentences to be the functional equivalent of a life without parole sentence in violation of the Eighth Amendment when they failed to offer the juvenile a meaningful opportunity to obtain release before the end of his expected life span.

In *People v. Caballero*, 282 P.3d 291 (Cal. 2012), the Supreme Court of California held that sentencing a juvenile non-homicide offender to one hundred and ten years was inconsistent with *Graham* and an Eighth Amendment violation. Although the Court declined to provide specific timeframes for setting parole hearings in non-homicide cases, “the sentence must not violate the defendant’s Eighth Amendment rights and must provide him or her a ‘meaningful opportunity to obtain release based on demonstrated maturity and rehabilitation’ under *Graham*’s mandate.” *Id.* at 296.

In *Casiano v. Commissioner*, 115 A.3d 1031, 1044 (Conn. 2015), the Supreme Court of Connecticut held that “the imposition of a fifty-year sentence without the possibility of parole” was subject to the sentencing procedures outlined in *Miller*. In *Bear Cloud v. State*, the Supreme Court of Wyoming found that a juvenile sentence with the earliest possible meaningful opportunity for release occurring in forty-five years to violate the principles of *Miller* and *Graham*. *Bear Cloud v. State*, 334 P.3d 132, 143-44 (Wyo. 2014). The Wyoming Supreme Court reasoned that these protections “must be applied to the entire sentencing package, when the sentence is life without parole, or when aggregate sentences result in the functional equivalent of life without parole.” *Id.* at 144.

The Florida Supreme Court addressed a sentence similar to the case at hand in *Atwell v. State*, 197 So.3d 1040 (Fla. 2016). *Atwell* was convicted at age sixteen of murder and received a sentence of life with the possibility of parole after twenty-five years. Under Florida’s statutory scheme, his parole hearing occurred twenty-five years after sentencing, at which time the parole

board set his presumptive parole release date at the year 2130 based on the seriousness of his offense and his prior record. *Id.* at 1041. The Florida Supreme Court reasoned that “throughout this Court’s post-*Graham* and *Miller* juvenile sentencing jurisprudence, we have consistently followed the spirit of *Graham* and *Miller* rather than a narrow, literal interpretation.” *Id.* The Court determined that parole eligibility did not exempt Atwell from the purview of *Miller* and *Graham*. *Id.* at 1047. The Florida Supreme Court remanded Atwell for resentencing as his sentence was the functional equivalent of life without parole due to Florida’s parole guidelines. *Id.* at 1050.

The Iowa Supreme Court found that a fifty-two-and-a-half-year minimum sentence for a juvenile triggered the protections afforded by *Miller*. *State v. Null*, 836 N.W.2d 41, 71 (Iowa 2013). “[W]e believe that while a minimum of 52.5 years imprisonment is not technically a life-without-parole sentence, such a lengthy sentence imposed on a juvenile is sufficient to trigger *Miller*-type protections.” *Id.* In *State v. Ragland*, 836 N.W.2d 107, 122 (Iowa 2013), the Iowa Supreme Court found that the chance of parole eligibility during the offender’s lifetime did not remove the case from the purview of *Miller*. Ragland’s commuted sentence required that he serve sixty years before being eligible for parole. *Id.* at 119. “The spirit of the constitutional mandates of *Miller* and *Graham* instruct that much more is at stake in the sentencing of juveniles than merely making sure that parole is possible.” *Id.* at 121. The Court held that “*Miller* applies to sentences that are the functional equivalent of life without parole.” *Id.* at 121-22.

In *State v. Louisell*, 865 N.W.2d 590 (Iowa 2015), the Iowa Supreme Court upheld a sentence life with the possibility of parole after twenty-five years. Louisell asserted her opportunity for parole was illusory, not real, as “only one of Iowa’s thirty-eight juvenile offenders originally sentenced to LWOP has been granted parole.” *Id.* at 601. Regarding a

meaningful opportunity for release, the Iowa Supreme Court said “[t]o be sure, a meaningful opportunity must be realistic. *Id.* at 602. However, the Court stated that it “must leave for another day the question whether repeated cursory denials of parole deprive juvenile offenders who have shown demonstrable rehabilitation and maturity of a meaningful or realistic opportunity for release,” noting that the enumerated codified factors considered by the parole board “do not closely track the *Miller* factors pertinent to the parole eligibility of juvenile offenders, nor do they account for the mitigating attributes of youth that are constitutionally required sentencing considerations.” *Id.*

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