ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Greenville County
Honorable R. Keith Kelly, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2016-002457

RECEIVED
MAY 09 2018
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

ROBERT BERNARD CAMPBELL,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

WILLIAM W. WILKINS, III
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

305 East North Street, Suite 325
Greenville County Courthouse
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 467-8282

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

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

ARGUMENT

The circuit court judge correctly denied Appellant's motion for resentencing because Appellant's aggregate parole-eligible life sentence for heinous crimes he committed shortly before he reached the age of eighteen afforded and continues to afford Appellant a meaningful opportunity to obtain release from incarceration through the parole process and, as a result, was and is in no way unconstitutional.

Appellant contends the circuit court judge committed reversible error by denying the motion for resentencing. In support of that contention, Appellant maintains the motion should have been granted because his aggregate parole-eligible life sentence for non-homicide crimes he committed as a juvenile is allegedly the functional equivalent of a life *without parole* sentence in light of the facts he claims to be mentally ill, he is unrepresented by counsel during parole hearings, and the parole board is not required to consider the special characteristics of a juvenile offender during the parole hearings. Significantly though, Appellant's aggregate parole-eligible sentence for heinous crimes he committed just before he reached the age of eighteen has afforded him and continues to afford him a meaningful avenue by which he could and still can obtain release from incarceration based on demonstrated maturity, rehabilitation, and growth. In light of that fact, Appellant's aggregate sentence of life *with parole* was not and is not unconstitutional. Accordingly, the circuit court judge properly declined to unnecessarily relitigate Appellant's sentence decades after his crimes were committed and correctly denied the motion for resentencing. The circuit court judge's ruling should be affirmed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In criminal cases, appellate courts sit to review errors of law only. State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001). The issue of whether a criminal defendant is serving an illegal or unconstitutional sentence constitutes a question of law. Bordeaux v. State, 410 S.C. 495, 499, 765 S.E.2d 143, 145 (2014). Therefore, an appellate court considering the lawfulness

of a sentence reviews the matter de novo for errors of law. Id.; see Catawba Indian Tribe of South Carolina v. State, 372 S.C. 519, 524, 642 S.E.2d 751, 753 (2007) (“[Appellate courts] are free to decide a question of law with no particular deference to the circuit court.”).

ANALYSIS

Generally speaking, the issue of an incarcerated inmate’s eligibility for parole is an entirely separate and independent issue from the issue of an appropriate and proper sentence for a defendant convicted of a criminal offense. State v. McKay, 300 S.C. 113, 115, 386 S.E.2d 623, 623 (1989). In South Carolina, the responsibility for determining whether an incarcerated inmate meets the requirements for parole is statutorily assigned to the state’s parole board, which is required by law to “carefully consider the record of the prisoner before, during, and after imprisonment” in determining whether parole should be granted. S.C. Code Ann. § 24-21-640; see State v. Dingle, 376 S.C. 643, 649, 659 S.E.2d 101, 104 (2008) (“[T]he parole board has the sole authority to determine parole eligibility separate and apart from the court’s authority to sentence a defendant.”). Meanwhile, trial judges in our state are tasked with imposing a criminal defendant’s sentence upon conviction and are vested with broad discretion to carry out that duty. See State v. Hicks, 377 S.C. 322, 325, 659 S.E.2d 499, 500 (Ct. App. 2008) (“A judge or other sentencing authority is to be accorded very wide discretion in determining an appropriate sentence, and must be permitted to consider any and all information that reasonably might bear on the proper sentence for the particular defendant, given the crime committed.”).

Despite the broad discretion afforded to South Carolina’s trial judges, the Eighth Amendment of the United States Constitution places limits on a trial judge’s sentencing discretion by prohibiting the imposition of cruel and unusual punishment. See U.S. Const. amend. VIII (“Excessive bail shall not be required, nor excessive fines imposed, nor cruel and

unusual punishments inflicted.”). Pursuant to the ban on cruel and unusual punishment, a defendant’s sentence must not be “barbaric” and must be graduated and proportioned to the offense in order to pass constitutional muster. Solem v. Helm, 463 U.S. 277, 284 (1983); see Atkins v. Virginia, 536 U.S. 304, 311 (2002) (instructing it is a precept of justice the punishment for a crime should be graduated and proportioned to the offense).

Notably, in Graham v. Florida, 560 U.S. 48, 81 (2010), a narrow majority of the United States Supreme Court concluded the imposition of a life sentence *without the possibility of parole* upon a juvenile offender who committed a non-homicide offense was violative of the Eighth Amendment’s prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment. In reaching that conclusion, the Supreme Court applied its own “independent judgment” and determined life without parole sentences for juvenile non-homicide offenders were unconstitutional due to the lessened culpability of juveniles, the severity and irrevocable nature of life without parole sentences, and the lack of sufficient penalogical justifications for the sentencing practice in regard to juveniles. Id. at 74. As a result, the Supreme Court held a state must “give [juvenile non-homicide] defendants like Graham some meaningful opportunity for release based on demonstrated maturity and rehabilitation.” Id. at 75. Importantly though, the Supreme Court placed careful limits on its holding by explaining a state is neither “required to guarantee eventual freedom to a juvenile offender” nor required “to release that offender during his natural life.” Id. To the contrary, the Supreme Court instructed:

Those who commit truly horrifying crimes as juveniles may turn out to be irredeemable, and thus deserving of incarceration for the duration of their lives. The Eighth Amendment does not foreclose the possibility that persons convicted of nonhomicide crimes committed before adulthood will remain behind bars for life.

Id.

Subsequent to that decision, a narrow majority of the United States Supreme Court in Miller v. Alabama, 567 U.S. 460, 489 (2012), applied the reasoning of the Graham decision to mandatory life without parole sentences for juvenile homicide offenders and concluded such sentences constituted cruel and unusual punishment. In reaching that conclusion, the Supreme Court determined a requirement for a mandatory sentence of life without parole sentence would doom a juvenile homicide offender to an *irrevocable* lifetime in jail without consideration being given to important factors related to the offender, including the offender's specific chronological age, the hallmark features of youth, the offender's home environment, the particular circumstances of the offender's crime, the effects peer pressure may have had on the crime, the "incompetencies associated with youth," and the possibility for rehabilitation. Id. at 477-478. Accordingly, in light of the irrevocable nature of a life without parole sentence, the Supreme Court held a sentencer must consider an offender's youth and attendant characteristics before imposing the particular penalty of life *without parole* on a juvenile non-homicide offender. Id. at 483. However, the Supreme Court expressly declined to preclude a sentencer from imposing a life without parole sentence on a juvenile homicide offender so long as it first took "into account how children are different, and how those differences counsel against *irrevocably* sentencing them to a lifetime in prison." Id. at 480 (emphasis added and footnote omitted).

Thereafter, in Aiken v. Byars, 410 S.C. 534, 536-537, 765 S.E.2d 572, 574 (2014), the South Carolina Supreme Court considered whether the Miller decision was applicable to juvenile homicide offenders who had been sentenced to life without parole under South Carolina's non-mandatory sentencing scheme. In a sharply-divided decision, a two-justice plurality of the Supreme Court concluded "any juvenile offender who receives a sentence of life without the possibility of parole [was] entitled to the same constitutional protections afforded by the Eighth

Amendment’s guarantee against cruel and unusual punishment.” Id. at 544, 765 S.E.2d at 577 (plurality opinion). Agreeing in principle on different grounds, an additional justice joined with the plurality while concurring solely in the result. Id. at 545-546, 765 S.E.2d at 578 (Pleicones, J., concurring in result). Accordingly, through its decision, the Supreme Court permitted “all juvenile offenders who may be subject to a sentence of life imprisonment *without the possibility of parole*” to seek resentencing “to allow the inmates to present evidence specific to their attributes of youth and allow the judge to consider such evidence in the light of its constitutional weight.” Id. at 544-545, 765 S.E.2d at 577-578 (plurality opinion) (emphasis added).

Following those decisions, in Montgomery v. Louisiana, ___ U.S. ___, 136 S. Ct. 718, 736 (2016), the United States Supreme Court considered whether its decision in Miller was entitled to retroactive effect in the cases of juvenile offenders previously sentenced to life without parole and concluded it was, in fact, retroactively applicable. Critically, upon reaching that conclusion, the Supreme Court carefully explained its determination did *not* require the states “to relitigate sentences, let alone convictions,” despite the fact juvenile offenders sentenced before Miller likely would not have received the type of sentencing considerations mandated by that decision. Id.; see Miller, 567 U.S. at 483 (“Our decision . . . mandates only that a sentencer follow a certain process—considering an offender’s youth and attendant characteristics—before imposing [life without parole].”). Instead, the Supreme Court instructed an unconstitutional sentence imposed upon a juvenile offender could be remedied by permitting the offender *to be considered for parole*. Montgomery, 136 S. Ct. at 736. Specifically, the Supreme Court explained:

Allowing those offenders to be considered for parole ensures that juveniles whose crimes reflected only transient immaturity—and who have since matured—will not be forced to serve a disproportionate sentence in violation of the Eighth Amendment.

...

Those prisoners who have shown an inability to reform will continue to serve life sentences. The opportunity for release will be afforded those who demonstrate the truth of Miller's central intuition—that children who commit even heinous crimes are capable of change.

Id. Thus, a grant of parole eligibility—as opposed to an individualized sentencing hearing—was expressly recognized as an appropriate means to remedy an Eighth Amendment violation involving a juvenile offender's sentence. Id.

In the case sub judice, Appellant, an admitted serial burglar, serial armed robber, and rapist, received life sentences for two different, unrelated burglaries he committed shortly before he reached the age of eighteen. See Miller, 567 U.S. at 476-477 (recognizing there is a difference between the culpability level of a fourteen-year-old offender versus a seventeen-year-old offender). Importantly though, Appellant's life sentences for non-homicide crimes were *not* perpetually irrevocable from the date they were imposed and did *not* guarantee Appellant would die in prison without ever having any opportunity to obtain release. Cf. Graham, 560 U.S. at 79 (“The State has *denied him any chance to later demonstrate that he is fit to rejoin society* based solely on a nonhomicide crime that he committed while he was a child in the eyes of the law. This the Eighth Amendment does not permit.” (emphasis added)). To the contrary, those life sentences specifically afforded him eligibility for parole, which constituted a meaningful mechanism by which Appellant could—and still can—obtain release from incarceration during his lifetime. Cf. State v. Smith, 295 Neb. 957, 979, 892 N.W.2d 52, 66 (Neb. 2017) (concluding Smith's ninety-year-to-life sentence for a kidnapping he committed when he was sixteen years old was *not* unconstitutional because Smith would be eligible for parole at some point during his lifetime). In fact, Appellant was first eligible for parole when he was only twenty-eight years old just *ten years* after he began serving his aggregate sentence, and, since that point in time, he has

continuously and regularly received opportunities to obtain release on parole. See S.C. Code Ann. § 24-21-610 (recognizing the parole board may grant parole to a prisoner who has received a parole-eligible life sentence after that prisoner has served at least ten years). Accordingly, because Appellant’s aggregate parole-eligible life sentence afforded him—and continues to afford him—an opportunity for obtaining release from incarceration during his lifetime, his aggregate life sentence *with* the possibility of parole was not and is not cruel, unusual, or grossly disproportionate to the heinous crimes Appellant’s committed just before he reached the age of adulthood for constitutional purposes.⁷ See Montgomery, 136 S. Ct. at 736 (“Allowing those offenders to be considered for parole ensures that juveniles whose crimes reflected only transient immaturity—and who have since matured—will not be forced to serve a disproportionate sentence in violation of the Eighth Amendment.”); see also Coker v. Georgia, 433 U.S. 584, 597 (1977) (plurality opinion) (“[Rape] is highly reprehensible, both in a moral sense and in its almost total contempt for the personal integrity and autonomy of the female victim and for the latter’s privilege of choosing those with whom intimate relationships are to be established. Short of homicide, it is the ‘ultimate violation of self.’ ” (footnote omitted)); State v. Johnson, 350 S.C. 543, 547, 567 S.E.2d 486, 488 (Ct. App. 2002) (“[F]ew would argue that *first-degree burglary*, *armed robbery*, and kidnapping are anything other than grave offenses of the ‘most serious’ nature.” (emphasis added)).

Recognizing Appellant was *not* convicted of a homicide crime, did *not* receive a sentence of life without parole, and did *not* receive a sentence that would unconstitutionally deny him any meaningful opportunity to obtain release during his lifetime, the circuit court judge correctly

⁷ Notably, pursuant to South Carolina law, a person seventeen years old or older is *not* considered to be a juvenile or child. See S.C. Code Ann. § 63-19-20(1) (“ ‘Child’ or ‘juvenile’ means a person less than seventeen years of age.”).

denied Appellant's motion for resentencing as Appellant's sentence itself was in no way unconstitutional. See Miller, 567 U.S. at 483 (mandating a sentencing process that must "only" be followed prior to the imposition of an *irrevocable* sentence of life without parole upon a juvenile homicide offender); Graham, 560 U.S. at 75 (holding juvenile non-homicide offenders are only entitled to "some meaningful opportunity for release based on demonstrated maturity and rehabilitation" and may be incarcerated for their entire lives for crimes committed as juveniles if they fail to rehabilitate and, thus, ultimately prove to be irredeemable); Aiken, 410 S.C. at 544-545, 765 S.E.2d at 577-578 (plurality opinion) (permitting "all juvenile offenders who may be subject to a sentence of life imprisonment without the possibility of parole" to seek resentencing). By ruling in that manner, the circuit court judge properly avoided the unnecessary and unwarranted relitigation of Appellant's sentence years after his crimes were committed at a point in time when his victims along with any other witnesses capable of presenting pertinent information about his offenses realistically may no longer be available to appear at a resentencing hearing. See Montgomery, 136 S. Ct. at 736 (instructing a state is not required "to relitigate sentences" in order to remedy constitutional violations with juvenile offenders' sentences and, instead, can remedy such violations by permitting the offenders "to be considered for parole, *rather than by resentencing them*" (emphasis added)); see generally Solem, 463 U.S. at 290, n. 16 ("Absent specific authority, it is not the role of an appellate court to substitute its judgment for that of the sentencing court as to the appropriateness of a particular sentence; rather, in applying the Eighth Amendment the appellate court decides only whether the sentence under review is within constitutional limits. In view of the substantial deference that must be accorded legislatures and sentencing courts, a reviewing court rarely will be required to engage in extended analysis to determine that a sentence is not constitutionally disproportionate.").

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